
-1- 

 

 
 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
DEVELOPMENT ADVISORY BOARD 

 
AGENDA 

 
July 6, 2022 

 
 

 All documents for public review are on file in the Planning Department located in 
City Hall at 303 East “B” St., Ontario, CA  91764 and on the city’s website at 

ontarioca.gov/Agendas/DAB  
 

MEETING WILL BE HELD AT 1:30 PM IN ONTARIO CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
LOCATED AT 303 East “B” St. 

  
Scott Ochoa, City Manager 
Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency 
Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director 
James Caro, Building Official 
Rudy Zeledon, Planning Director  
Khoi Do, City Engineer 
Chief Michael Lorenz, Police Department 
Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department 
Scott Burton, Utilities General Manager 
Angela Magana, Community Improvement Manager 
 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Citizens wishing to address the Development Advisory Board on any matter that is not on the agenda 
may do so at this time.  Please state your name and address clearly for the record and limit your remarks 
to five minutes. 

 
Please note that while the Development Advisory Board values your comments, the members cannot 
respond nor take action until such time as the matter may appear on the forthcoming agenda. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS 
 



 
 

-2- 

For each of the items listed below the public will be provided an opportunity to speak. After a staff report is 
provided, the chairperson will open the public hearing. At that time the applicant will be allowed five (5) minutes 
to make a presentation on the case. Members of the public will then be allowed five (5) minutes each to speak.  
The Development Advisory Board may ask the speakers questions relative to the case and the testimony provided.  
The question period will not count against your time limit. After all persons have spoken, the applicant will be 
allowed three minutes to summarize or rebut any public testimony. The chairperson will then close the public 
hearing portion of the hearing and deliberate the matter. 
 
CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 
 
A. MINUTES APPROVAL 
 

Development Advisory Board Minutes of June 20, 2022, approved as written. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS  

 
B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV22-011: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a new motor 
vehicle sales lot (Genesis of Ontario), including a 33,117-square-foot showroom, office, and 
vehicle service building  and a 2,660-square-foot carwash and detailing building on 4.175 acres of 
land generally located on the south side of Inland Empire Boulevard, approximately 225 feet west 
of QVC Way, at 2100 East Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Urban Commercial land use 
district of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan. The project is categorically exempt from 
the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15332 
(Class 32, Infill Development) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed project is located within the 
Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be 
consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility 
Plan; (APN: 0110-321-82) submitted by Goreewhitfield. 

   
1. CEQA Determination    

 
No action necessary – Exempt:  CEQA Guidelines Section § 15332 
       

2. File No. PDEV22-011 (Development Plan) 
 

Motion to Approve / Deny 
 

C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 
NO. PDEV20-009: A public hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct a mixed-use 
project consisting of 59 multiple-family dwellings, 2,744 square feet of retail space, and two levels 
of parking on approximately 0.81-acres of land located at 549 West Holt Boulevard, within the 
MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning district. The project is categorically exempt from the 
requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15332 
(Class 32, In-Fill Development) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed project is located within 
the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be 
consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility 
Plan; (APN: 1049-021-09) submitted by Kathy Huynh. Planning Commission action is 
required. 

 

1. CEQA Determination    
 
No action necessary – Exempt:  CEQA Guidelines Section § 15332  
  





CITY OF ONTARIO 

Development Advisory Board 

Minutes 

June 20, 2022 

ROLL CALL 

BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT 

Rudy Zeledon, Chairman, Planning Department 
James Caro, Building Department  
Elda Zavala, Community Improvement 
Khoi Do, Engineering Department 
Christy Stevens, Municipal Utilities Company  
Tony Galban, Police Department 

BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT 

Charity Hernandez, Economic Development Agency 
Paul Ehrman, Fire Department  

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT 

Jennifer Hiramoto, Economic Development Director 
Gwen Berendsen, Planning Department 
Jeanie Aguilo, Planning Department 
Edmelynne Hutter, Planning Department 
Chuck Mercier, Planning Department 
Antonio Alejos, Engineering Department 
Jeff Tang, Engineering Department 
Angela Truong, Engineering Department 
Raymond Lee, Engineering Department 

PUBLIC COMMENTS 

No person from the public wished to speak. 

CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS 

A. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  Motion to approve the minutes of the May 16, 2022 meeting of the
Development Advisory Board was made by Mr. Do; seconded by Mr. Caro; and approved
unanimously by those present (6 -0).

PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 

B. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE
NO. PDEV22-006: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct an unmanned wireless

Item A - 1 of 4



communications facility, with a 65-foot-tall monopine and ancillary ground-mounted equipment, 
on 160 square feet of leased space within 7.88 acres of land located at 4600 East Wall Street, within 
the Light Industrial land use designation of the California Commerce Center Specific Plan. The 
project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act 
(“CEQA”) pursuant to Section 15303 (Class 3, New Construction or Conversion of Small 
Structures) of the CEQA Guidelines. The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence 
Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies 
and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APN: 0238-221-
36) submitted by Coastal Business Group, Inc. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
The applicant, Damien Pichardo, was present.  
 
Mr. Zeledon asked if he had reviewed all the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Mr. Pichardo stated he had reviewed and accepted the Conditions of Approval. 
 
No one else wished to speak on the project and Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion to approve File No. PDEV22-006, subject to conditions was made by Ms. Zavala; seconded by Ms. 
Stevens; and approved unanimously by those present (6 - 0). 
 
C. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV21-019: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct 73 single-family cluster 
homes (Lennar Homes) on 5.99 acres of land bounded by Merrill Avenue to the north, Southern 
California Edison easement to the west, and the San Bernardino County Flood Control District and 
the City of Eastvale to the south, within the PA 27 of the Subarea 29 Specific Plan. The 
environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction with File Nos. 
PSPA20-006 and PMTT20-012, for which an Addendum to the Subarea 29 Specific Plan 
Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2004011009) was approved by the City 
Council on June 15, 2021. This application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. 
The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport 
and was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario 
International Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP). The project site is also located within 
the Airport Influence area of Chino Airport and is consistent with policies and criteria set forth 
within the 2011 California Airport Land Use Planning Handbook published by the California 
Department of Transportation, Division of Aeronautics; (APN: 0218-331-42) submitted by 
Lennar Homes of California, Inc. Planning Commission action is required. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Blaine Humbles, representing Lennar Homes was present. 
 
Mr. Zeledon asked if he had reviewed all the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Mr. Humbles stated he had reviewed them and accepted them as is. 
 
No one else wished to speak on the project and Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 

Item A - 2 of 4



Motion to recommend approval of File No. PDEV21-019, subject to conditions, to the Planning 
Commission was made by Mr. Caro; seconded by Ms. Zavala; and approved unanimously by those present 
(6 - 0). 
 
D. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV21-027: A hearing to consider Development Plan approval to construct 235 single-
family dwellings on approximately 31.5 acres of land located at the southwest corner of Archibald 
Avenue and Chino Avenue, within Planning Area 2 (Neighborhoods 5 & 6) of the Countryside 
Specific Plan. The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in conjunction 
with the Countryside Specific Plan (File No. PSP04-001), for which and Environmental Impact 
Report (State Clearinghouse No. 2004071001) was certified by the City Council on April 18, 2006. 
This application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The proposed project is 
located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and was evaluated and 
found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International Airport Land Use 
Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 0218-131-12, 0219-131-22, 0218-131-11, 0218-131-40, and 0218-
131-43) submitted by Lennar Homes of California, Inc. Planning Commission action is 
required. 

 
Mr. Zeledon opened the public hearing. 
 
Senior Planner Hutter stated there were revised Conditions of Approval before the Board, which added in 
a reference to the related Tract Map.  
 
Mr. Blaine Humbles representing Lennar Homes, was present. 
 
Mr. Zeledon clarified the revised condition and asked if he had reviewed all the Conditions of Approval. 
 
Mr. Humbles stated they agreed to the Conditions of Approval with the revision. 
 
No one else wished to speak on the project and Mr. Zeledon closed the public hearing. 
 
Motion to recommend approval of File No. PDEV21-027, subject to conditions, to the Planning 
Commission was made by Ms. Stevens; seconded by Mr. Galban; and approved unanimously by those 
present (6 - 0). 
 
E. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN REVIEW FOR FILE 

NO. PDEV22-014: A hearing to consider a Development Plan to construct four mixed-use 
buildings totaling 63,665 commercial square feet and 694 dwelling units (540,373 residential 
square feet) on 13.3 acres of land located at 4000 East Ontario Center Parkway and the southeast 
and southwest corner of Via Piemonte and Via Villagio, within the Mixed-use land use district of 
the Piemonte Overlay of the Ontario Center Specific Plan. The environmental impacts of this 
project were previously reviewed in conjunction with an Amendment to the Piemonte Overlay of 
the Ontario Center Specific Plan, for which an Addendum to the Ontario Center Specific Plan 
Environmental Impact Report (State Clearinghouse No. 198941009) was adopted by the Planning 
Commission on April 19, 2022. This application introduces no new significant environmental 
impacts, and all previously-adopted mitigation measures are a condition of project approval. The 
proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport and 
was evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Ontario International 
Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan; (APNs: 0210-205-01, 0210-204-38, and 0210-204-39) 
submitted by Adept Development. Planning Commission action is required. 

 

Item A - 3 of 4



Item A - 4 of 4



Page 1 

Development Advisory Board Decision 
July 6, 2022 

DECISION NO.: DAB22-[insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV22-011 

DESCRIPTION: A Development Plan to construct a new motor vehicle sales facility (Genesis of 
Ontario), including a 33,117-square-foot showroom, office, and vehicle service building and a 2,660-square-
foot carwash and detailing building on 4.175 acres of land generally located on the south side of Inland 
Empire Boulevard, approximately 225 feet west of QVC Way, at 2100 East Inland Empire Boulevard, within 
the Urban Commercial land use district of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan; (APN: 
0110-321-82) submitted by Goreewhitfield.

Part I—BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

GOREEWHITFIELD, (herein after referred to as “Applicant”) has filed an application requesting 
Development Plan approval, File No. PDEV22-011, as described in the subject of this Decision (herein after 
referred to as "Application" or "Project"). 

(1) Project Setting: The Project site is comprised of 4.175 acres of vacant land generally
located on the south side of Inland Empire Boulevard, approximately 225 feet west of QVC Way, at 2100 
East Inland Empire Boulevard, as depicted in Exhibit A—Project Location Map, attached. The property is 
relatively flat, with a gentle one to two percent slope to the rear of the site. Existing land uses, General Plan 
and zoning designations, and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the Project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use General Plan 
Designation Zoning Designation Specific Plan 

Land Use 

Site: Vacant Mixed-Use Meredith International 
Center Specific Plan Urban Commercial 

North: Industrial warehouse Mixed-Use Meredith International 
Center Specific Plan Industrial 

South: Interstate 10 Freeway Interstate 10 Freeway Interstate 10 Freeway Interstate 10 Freeway 

East: Passenger vehicle sales Mixed-Use Meredith International 
Center Specific Plan Urban Commercial 

West: Residential mixed-use Mixed-Use Meredith International 
Center Specific Plan Urban Commercial 

(2) Project Description:

(a) Background — On March 10, 2022, the Applicant submitted a Development Plan
application (File No. PDEV22-011) requesting to construct a new motor vehicle sales facility (Genesis of 
Ontario), including a 33,117-square-foot showroom, office, and vehicle service building and a 2,660-square-
foot carwash and detailing building on the Project site. 

(b) Site Design/Building Layout — The proposed main dealership building is, for the
most part, centered on the Project site, with inventory, employee and visitor parking distributed around the 
perimeter of the Project site. Additionally, outdoor vehicle display pads are proposed at the southeast and 

Item B - 1 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 2 

southwest corners of the site, facing Interstate 10, and at the northwest corner of the site, adjacent to the 
site vehicular entry point, facing Inland Empire Boulevard.  
 
The proposed carwash and four-bay detailing building is located near the southwest corner of the site. The 
facility is for sole use by the auto dealership. 
 

(c) Site Access/Circulation — The Project site has a single point of access from Inland 
Empire Boulevard. Due to the existing landscaped center median in Inland Empire Boulevard, all vehicular 
traffic into and out of the Project site is limited to right-in and right-out movements only. 
 

(d) Parking — The Project complies with the off-street parking requirements of the 
Meredith International Center Specific Plan and the City’s Development Code. The Project is required to 
provide a total of 109 off-street parking spaces. The project will provide 114 off-street parking spaces (see 
Parking Summary Table, below), exceeding the minimum off-street parking requirements for the Project. 
An additional 224 parking spaces are provided for Automobile display and storage of inventory, for an 
overall total of 338 off-street parking spaces. 
 

Parking Summary Table 

Use Area Parking Ratio Parking 
Required 

Parking 
Provided 

Motor Vehicle Sales 
16,733 SF One space/300 SF of GFA 56 

62 
1,042 SF One space/1,000 SF outdoor display area 2 

Auto Service 15,186 SF One space/400 SF of GFA 38 39 

Auto Parts 2,141 SF One space/250 SF of GFA 9 9 

Carwash 1,345 SF Determined by Zoning Administrator 0 0 

Detail Bays 1,315 SF One space/400 SF GFA 4 4 

Total Required Parking Spaces 109 114 

Inventory Parking 224 

Overall Total Parking 338 
 

(e) Architecture —Architecturally, the proposed main dealership building incorporates 
Alucobond aluminum composite wall panels, EIFS exterior wall cladding, and extensive glazing with clear 
anodized aluminum mullions (see Exhibit C—Exterior Elevations, attached). The mechanical equipment 
will be roof-mounted and obscured from public view by perforated Alucobond aluminum composite 
equipment screens, consistent with the building architecture. 
 
The proposed project illustrates the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the Development Code. 
This is exemplified through the use of: (i) significant articulation in the building footprint; (ii) articulation in 
the building parapet/roof line; (iii) a mix of exterior materials, finishes and fixtures; (iv) incorporation of base 
and top treatments defined by changes in color, materials, and recessed wall areas; and (v) the building 
was designed to ensure that its massing and proportion, along with its use of color and architectural 
detailing, are consistent throughout the building elevations. 
 

(f) Landscaping — The project provides landscaping along the street frontages, the 
perimeter of the site, and throughout the parking lot. The Development Code requires that the Project 
provide a minimum 10 percent landscape coverage and 15 percent has been provided. Moreover, a 
combination of 24-, 36-, and 48-inch box accent and shade trees will be provided throughout the project 
site, in addition to a variety of shrubs and groundcovers that are low water usage and drought tolerant. The 

Item B - 2 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 3 

proposed on-site and off-site landscape improvements will assist towards creating a walkable, safe area 
for pedestrians (see Exhibit E—Landscape Plan, attached). 
 

(g) Signage — All project signage is required to comply with sign regulations provided 
in the Meredith International Center Specific Plan and Ontario Development Code Division 8.1. 
 

(h) Utilities (drainage, sewer) — Public utilities (water and sewer) are available to 
serve the Project. Furthermore, the Applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water Quality Management Plan 
(“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm water discharge/water quality 
requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures that capture runoff and pollutant transport by 
minimizing impervious surfaces and maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best management 
practices (“BMPs”), such as retention and infiltration, biotreatment, and evapotranspiration. The PWQMP 
proposes the use of a combination of on-site infiltration swales within landscaped areas and subsurface 
retention chambers. Any overflow drainage will be conveyed to the public street by way of parkway drains 
and culverts. 
 
 

Part II—RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, 
commencing with Public Resources Code Section 21000 (hereinafter referred to as "CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a categorical exemption (listed in CEQA 
Guidelines Article 19, commencing with Section 15300) and the application of that categorical exemption 
is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the Development 
Advisory Board (“DAB”) the responsibility and authority to review and act on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the opportunity to review 
and comment on the Application, and no comments were received opposing the proposed development; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as prescribed in Government Code 
Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that development projects must be consistent with the Housing 
Element, if upon consideration of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and 
policies of the Housing Element; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport, 
which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, and is 
subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport 
Land Use Compatibility Plan, which applies only to jurisdictions within San Bernardino County, and 
addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of current and future airport activity; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) prescribes the 
manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing procedures to be followed, and all such 
notifications and procedures have been completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on July 6, 2022, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing on the Application 
and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 

Item B - 3 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 4 

Part III—THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND AND DETERMINED by the Development Advisory 
Board of the City of Ontario, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the decision-making body for 
the Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained in the administrative record 
for the Project. Based upon the facts and information contained in the administrative record, including all 
written and oral evidence presented to the DAB, the DAB finds as follows: 
 

(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, Infill Development Projects) of the CEQA 
Guidelines, as the Project consists of an infill development and meets the following conditions: 
 

(a) The project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all 
applicable general plan policies as well as with applicable zoning designation and regulations. 
 

(b) The proposed development occurs within city limits on a project site of no more 
than five acres substantially surrounded by urban uses. 
 

(c) The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare or threatened 
species. 
 

(d) Approval of the project would not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, 
noise, air quality, or water quality. 
 

(e) The site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 
 

(2) The application of the categorical exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set 
forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 

(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of California 
Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, as the decision-making body 
for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and information contained in the Application and 
supporting documentation, at the time of Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing 
Element of the Policy Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of 
the properties in the Available Land Inventory contained in Table A-3 (Available Land by Planning Area) of 
the Housing Element Technical Report Appendix. 
 

SECTION 3: ALUCP Compliance. The California State Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code 
Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use 
airports in the State; and requires that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be 
consistent with the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. On April 19, 2011, 
the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the Ontario International Airport Land use 
Compatibility Plan, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, and limits future 
land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they relate to noise, safety, airspace 
protection, and overflight impacts of current and future airport activity. As the decision-making body for the 
Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the Application and 
supporting documentation against the ALUCP compatibility factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ALUCP 
Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ALUCP Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact 
Zones (ALUCP Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight Notification 

Item B - 4 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 5 

Zones (ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the DAB, therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when 
implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria 
set forth within the ALUCP. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial evidence presented 
to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the facts and information set forth in Parts I 
(Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), above, and the specific findings set forth in Sections 1 through 
3, above, the DAB hereby concludes as follows: 
 

(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities 
components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the Mixed Use land use district 
of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the Urban Commercial land use district of the Meredith International 
Center Specific Plan. The development standards and conditions under which the proposed Project will be 
constructed and maintained, is consistent with the goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy 
Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities components of The Ontario Plan; and 
 

(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation to 
location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint identified 
on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The Project has been 
designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario Development Code and the Urban 
Commercial land use district of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan, including standards relative 
to the particular land use proposed (Passenger Vehicle Sales), as-well-as building intensity, building and 
parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and off-site 
landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions; and 
 

(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary to 
protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the proposed project. 
The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, and impose certain conditions of 
approval, which have been established to ensure that: [i] the purposes of the Meredith International Center 
Specific Plan are maintained; [ii] the Project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; 
[iii] the Project will not result in any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the Project will be in harmony 
with the area in which it is located; and [v] the Project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council 
Priorities and Policy Plan components of The Ontario Plan, and the Meredith International Center Specific 
Plan; and 
 

(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 
design guidelines set forth in the Meredith International Center Specific Plan. The proposed Project 
has been reviewed for consistency with the general development standards and guidelines of the Meredith 
International Center Specific Plan that are applicable to the proposed Project, including building intensity, 
building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading spaces, parking lot 
dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences and walls, as-well-
as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land use being 
proposed (Passenger Vehicle Sales). As a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board has 
determined that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be 
consistent with the development standards and guidelines described in the Meredith International Center 
Specific Plan. 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and conclusions 
set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby APPROVES the Application subject to each and 
every condition set forth in the Department reports included as Attachment A of this Decision and 
incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

Item B - 5 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 6 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this 
approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the Applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, 
and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute the record 
of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the City of Ontario City Hall, 303 
East “B” Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for these records is the City Clerk of the City of 
Ontario. The records are available for inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of July 2022. 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 
 
 

Item B - 6 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 7 

Exhibit A—PROJECT LOCATION MAP  

PROJECT SITE 

INLAND EMPIRE BOULEVARD 

Q
VC

 W
A

Y 

N 

Item B - 7 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 8 

Exhibit B—SITE PLAN  

Item B - 8 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 9 

Exhibit C—EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS  

Item B - 9 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 10 

Exhibit D—RENDERED PERSPECTIVE DRAWING  

Item B - 10 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 11 

LANDSCAPE PLAN 

Item B - 11 of 38



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV22-011 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 12 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A 
Departmental Conditions of Approval 

 
(Departmental conditions of approval follow this page) 

Item B - 12 of 38



Page 1 of 4 

303 East B Street, Ontario, California 91764 Phone: 909.395.2036 / Fax: 909.395.2420 

LAND DEVELOPMENT DIVISION 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Date Prepared: 4/20/2022 

File No: PDEV22-011 

Related Files: N/A 

Project Description: A Development Plan to construct a new motor vehicle sales lot (Genesis of 
Ontario), including a 33,117-square-foot showroom, office, and vehicle service building  and a 
2,660-square-foot carwash and detailing building on 4.175 acres of land generally located on the 
south side of Inland Empire Boulevard, approximately 225 feet west of QVC Way, at 2100 East 
Inland Empire Boulevard, within the Urban Commercial land use district of the 
Meredith International Center Specific Plan; (APN: 0110-321-82) submitted by Goreewhitfield. 

Prepared By: Chuck Mercier, Principal Planner 
Phone: 909.395.2425 (direct) 
Email: cmercier@ontarioca.gov 

The Planning Department, Land Development Section, conditions of approval applicable 
to the above-described Project, are listed below. The Project shall comply with each condition of 
approval listed below: 

1.0 Standard Conditions of Approval. The project shall comply with the Standard Conditions 
for New Development, adopted by City Council Resolution No. 2017-027 on April 18, 2017. A copy 
of the Standard Conditions for New Development may be obtained from the Planning 
Department or City Clerk/Records Management Department. 

2.0 Special Conditions of Approval. In addition to the Standard Conditions for New 
Development identified in condition no. 1.0, above, the project shall comply with the following 
special conditions of approval: 

2.1 Time Limits. Development Plan approval shall become null and void 2 years 
following the effective date of application approval, unless a building permit is issued and 
construction is commenced, and diligently pursued toward completion, or a time extension has 
been approved by the Planning Director. This condition does not supersede any individual time 
limits specified herein, or any other departmental conditions of approval applicable to the Project, 
for the performance of specific conditions or improvements. 

2.2 General Requirements. The Project shall comply with the following general 
requirements: 

(a) All construction documentation shall be coordinated for consistency,
including, but not limited to, architectural, structural, mechanical, electrical, plumbing, landscape 
and irrigation, grading, utility, and street improvement plans. All such plans shall be consistent with 
the approved entitlement plans on file with the Planning Department. 

Item B - 13 of 38

mailto:cmercier@ontarioca.gov


Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-011 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 

 
(b) The project site shall be developed in conformance with the approved 

plans on file with the City. Any variation from the approved plans must be reviewed and approved 
by the Planning Department prior to building permit issuance. 
 

(c) The herein-listed conditions of approval from all City departments shall be 
included in the construction plan set for project, which shall be maintained on site during project 
construction. 
 

2.3 Landscaping.  
 

(a) The Project shall provide and continuously maintain landscaping and 
irrigation systems in compliance with the provisions of Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping). 
 

(b) Comply with the conditions of approval of the Planning Department, 
Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(c) Landscaping shall not be installed until the Landscape and Irrigation 
Construction Documentation Plans required by Ontario Development Code Division 6.05 
(Landscaping) have been approved by the Landscape Planning Division. 
 

(d) Changes to approved Landscape and Irrigation Construction 
Documentation Plans, which affect the character or quantity of the plant material or irrigation 
system design, shall be resubmitted for approval of the revision by the Landscape Planning 
Division, prior to the commencement of the changes. 
 

2.4 Walls and Fences. All Project walls and fences shall comply with the requirements 
of Ontario Development Code Division 6.02 (Walls, Fences and Obstructions). 
 

2.5 Parking, Circulation and Access. 
 

(a) The Project shall comply with the applicable off-street parking, loading, and 
lighting requirements of City of Ontario Development Code Division 6.03 (Off-Street Parking and 
Loading). 
 

(b) All drive approaches shall be provided with an enhanced pavement 
treatment. The enhanced paving shall extend from the back of the approach apron, into the site, 
to the first intersecting drive aisle or parking space. 
 

(c) Areas provided to meet the City’s parking requirements, including off-street 
parking and loading spaces, access drives, and maneuvering areas, shall not be used for the 
outdoor storage of materials and equipment, nor shall it be used for any other purpose than 
parking. 
 

(d) The required number of off-street parking spaces and/or loading spaces 
shall be provided at the time of site and/or building occupancy. All parking and loading spaces 
shall be maintained in good condition for the duration of the building or use. 
 

Item B - 14 of 38



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-011 
 
 

Page 3 of 4 

(e) Parking spaces specifically designated and conveniently located for use 
by the physically disabled shall be provided pursuant to current accessibility regulations 
contained in State law (CCR Title 24, Part 2, Chapters 2B71, and CVC Section 22507.8). 
 

(f) Bicycle parking facilities, including bicycle racks, lockers, and other secure 
facilities, shall be provided in conjunction with development projects pursuant to current 
regulations contained in CALGreen (CAC Title 24, Part 11). 
 

2.6 Site Lighting. 
 

(a) All off-street parking facilities shall be provided with nighttime security 
lighting pursuant to Ontario Municipal Code Section 4-11.09 (Special Commercial/Industrial 
Building Provisions), designed to confine emitted light to the parking areas. Parking facilities shall 
be lighted from sunset until sunrise, daily, and shall be operated by a photocell switch. 
 

(b) Unless intended as part of a master lighting program, no operation, activity, 
or lighting fixture shall create illumination on any adjacent property. 
 

2.7 Mechanical and Rooftop Equipment. 
 

(a) All exterior roof-mounted mechanical, heating and air conditioning 
equipment, and all appurtenances thereto, shall be completely screened from public view by 
parapet walls or roof screens that are architecturally treated so as to be consistent with the 
building architecture. 
 

(b) All ground-mounted utility equipment and structures, such as tanks, 
transformers, HVAC equipment, and backflow prevention devices, shall be located out of view 
from a public street, or adequately screened through the use of landscaping and/or decorative 
low garden walls. 
 

2.8 Security Standards. The Project shall comply with all applicable requirements of 
Ontario Municipal Code Title 4 (Public Safety), Chapter 11 (Security Standards for Buildings). 
 

2.9 Signs. All Project signage shall comply with the requirements of Ontario 
Development Code Division 8.1 (Sign Regulations). 
 

2.10 Sound Attenuation. The Project shall be constructed and operated in a manner so 
as not to exceed the maximum interior and exterior noised levels set forth in Ontario Municipal 
Code Title 5 (Public Welfare, Morals, and Conduct), Chapter 29 (Noise). 
 

2.11 Environmental Review.  
 

(a) The environmental impacts of this project were previously reviewed in the 
Meredith International Centre Specific Plan Amendment Environmental Impact Report, certified 
by the City of Ontario City Council on April 7, 2015, in conjunction with File Nos. PGPA13-005 and 
PSPA14-003. This application introduces no new significant environmental impacts. The City's 
"Local Guidelines for the Implementation of the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”)" 
provide for the use of a single environmental assessment in situations where the impacts of 
subsequent projects are adequately analyzed. All applicable previously adopted mitigation 
measures shall be a condition of project approval and are incorporated herein by this reference 

Item B - 15 of 38



Planning Department – Land Development Division 
Conditions of Approval 
File No.: PDEV22-011 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 

(refer to the Meredith International Centre Specific Plan Amendment Mitigation Monitoring Plan, 
included as Attachment A of this document). 
 

(b) If human remains are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction activities, the area shall not be disturbed until any required 
investigation is completed by the County Coroner and Native American consultation has been 
completed (if deemed applicable). 
 

(c) If any archeological or paleontological resources are found during project 
grading/excavation/construction, the area shall not be disturbed until the significance of the 
resource is determined. If determined to be significant, the resource shall be recovered by a 
qualified archeologist or paleontologist consistent with current standards and guidelines, or other 
appropriate measures implemented. 
 

2.12 Indemnification. The applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold harmless, 
the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul 
any approval of the City of Ontario, whether by its City Council, Planning Commission or other 
authorized board or officer. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the applicant of any such 
claim, action or proceeding, and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

2.13 Additional Fees. 
 

(a) Within 5 days following final application approval, the Notice of 
Determination (“NOD”) filing fee shall be provided to the Planning Department. The fee shall be 
paid by check, made payable to the "Clerk of the Board of Supervisors", which shall be forwarded 
to the San Bernardino County Clerk of the Board of Supervisors, along with all applicable 
environmental forms/notices, pursuant to the requirements of the California Environmental Quality 
Act (“CEQA”). failure to provide said fee within the time specified will result in the extension of the 
statute of limitations for the filing of a CEQA lawsuit from 30 days to 180 days. 
 

(b) After the Project’s entitlement approval, and prior to issuance of final 
building permits, the Planning Department’s Plan Check and Inspection fees shall be paid at the 
rate established by resolution of the City Council. 
 

2.14 Additional Requirements. 
 

(a) The 12 employee parking spaces located on the south side of the primary 
structure, abutting the service bay area, shall be provided with wheel stops to prevent damage 
to the building wall from parked vehicles. Alternately, the parking space length may be reduced 
by 2 to 3 feet, to no less than 16 feet in length, with the 2 to 3 feet added to the adjacent 
hardscape area containing the parking overhang area. 
 

(b) Areas designated for off-street parking by employees or customers shall not 
be used for the storage or display of motor vehicles. 
 

(c) Parking spaces designated on the site plan for customer use shall have 
“Customer Parking Only” painted on the parking surface, at the parking space entrance. 

Item B - 16 of 38



AIRPORT LAND USE COMPATIBILITY PLANNING 

Project File No.:

Address:

APN:

Existing Land 
Use:

Proposed Land 
Use:

Site Acreage:

ONT-IAC Project Review:

This proposed Project is: Exempt from the ALUCP Consistent Consistent with Conditions Inconsistent

Reviewed By:

Date:

Contact Info:

Project Planner:

CD No.:

PALU No.:

The project is impacted by the following ONT ALUCP Compatibility Zones: 

Safety Noise Impact Airspace Protection

Zone 1

Zone 1A

Zone 2

Zone 3

Zone 4

Zone 5

75+ dB CNEL

70 - 75 dB CNEL

65 - 70 dB CNEL

60 - 65 dB CNEL

High Terrain Zone Avigation Easement 
Dedication

Real Estate Transaction

Zone 1 Zone 2 Zone 3 Zone 4 Zone 5

CONSISTENCY DETERMINATION

Airspace Avigation 
Easement Area

Allowable 
Height:

The project is impacted by the following Chino ALUCP Safety Zones: 

Form Updated: March 3, 2016Page 1

Zone 6

Allowable Height:

PDEV22-011

2100 East Inland Empire Blvd.

110-321-82

Vacant

Development Plan to construct 1 commercial building and car wash totaling 35,777
SF

4.17

n/a

ONT

The proposed project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport (ONT) and was
evaluated and found to be consistent with the policies and criteria of the Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan (ALUCP)
for ONT.

✔

✔ ✔

Lorena Mejia

909-395-2276

Charles Mercier

6/9/2022

2022-015

n/a

34 FT

95 FT

✔

Item B - 17 of 38



CITY OF ONTARIO 
LANDSCAPE PLANNING DIVISION 

303 East “B” Street, Ontario, CA 91764 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
Sign Off 

 
06/10/2022 

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner Date 

Reviewer’s Name:  

Jamie Richardson, Sr. Landscape Planner 
Phone: 

(909) 395-2615 
 
D.A.B. File No.:                                           

PDEV22-011 
Case Planner: 

Charles Mercier 
Project Name and Location:  

Genesis of Ontario 
Inland Empire Blvd. 
Applicant/Representative: 

Rusnak Auto Group jbeed@rusnakgroup.com (626) 449-2377 
267-337 W. Colorado Blvd.  
Pasadena, CA 91105 
 
 
 

 

 

Preliminary Plans (dated 6/1/2022) have been approved considering that the 
following conditions below be met upon submittal of the landscape construction 
documents. 

 

 

Preliminary Plans (dated) have not been approved. Corrections noted below are 
required before Preliminary Landscape Plan approval. 

A RESPONSE SHEET IS REQUIRED WITH RESUBMITTAL OR PLANS WILL BE RETURNED AS 

INCOMPLETE. 
Landscape construction plans with plan check number may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov. 

DIGITAL SUBMITTALS MUST BE 10MB OR LESS.  
Civil/ Site Plans 

1. Sheet A.100: Callout a new wrought iron and pilasters spaced at logical locations. There is a 
current chain-link fence; note to remove and replace. 

2. Before permit issuance, stormwater infiltration devices located in landscape areas shall be 
reviewed and plans approved by the Landscape Planning Division. Any stormwater devices in 
parkway areas shall not displace street trees. 

3. Show transformers set back 5’ from paving all sides. Coordinate with landscape plans. 
4. Show backflow devices set back 4’ from paving on all sides. Locate on level grade 
5. Locate utilities including light standards, fire hydrants, water, drain, and sewer lines to not 

conflict with required tree locations—coordinate civil plans with landscape plans. 
6. Note for compaction to be no greater than 85% in landscape areas. All finished grades at 1 ½” 

below finished surfaces. Slopes to be maximum 3:1. 
7. Add Note to Grading and Landscape Plans: Landscape areas where compaction has occurred 

due to grading activities and where trees or stormwater infiltration areas are located shall be 
loosened by soil fracturing. For trees, a 12’x12’x18” deep area; for stormwater infiltration, the 
entire area shall be loosened. Add the following information on the plans: The backhoe method 
of soil fracturing shall be used to break up compaction. A 4” layer of Compost is spread over 
the soil surface before fracturing is begun. The backhoe shall dig into the soil, lifting and then 
drop the soil immediately back into the hole. The bucket then moves to the adjacent soil and 
repeats. The Compost falls into the spaces between the soil chunks created. Fracturing shall 
leave the soil surface quite rough with large soil clods. These must be broken by additional 
tilling. Tilling in more Compost to the surface after fracturing per the soil report will help create 

Item B - 18 of 38

mailto:jbeed@rusnakgroup.com
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


an A horizon soil. Imported or reused Topsoil can be added on top of the fractured soil as 
needed for grading. The Landscape Architect shall be present during this process and provide 
certification of the soil fracturing. For additional reference, see Urban Tree Foundation – 
Planting Soil Specifications. 

 
Landscape Plans 
8. During plan check, coordinate with Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) to submit 

irrigation plans for recycled water systems to omucwaterquality@ontarioca.gov. OMUC shall 
review and approve irrigation systems utilizing recycled water before final landscape approval. 
Submit an electronic approval letter or memo from OMUC with the resubmittal of the landscape 
package. 

9. Street trees shall be located 30’ on-center; show the right-of-way on plans. Adjust and tighten 
up the spacing of the background trees along Inland Empire Blvd. and alternate between the 
street trees. Show parkway landscape max 18” high: match adjacent sites. Use minimum utility 
setbacks and offset trees 30’ on center to allow for a consistent canopy. 

10. Add trees to the end island planters; choose a low-liter tree such as the Tristania conferta. Use 
broad canopy trees like Quercus at the entries and larger planter spaces. Add deciduous trees 
such as Platanus along the southern property line (adjacent to the freeway), show view 
corridors, and adjust trees out of any signage or display spaces for vehicles.  

11. Show backflow devices with 36” high strappy leaf shrub screening and trash enclosures and 
transformers, a 4’-5’ high evergreen hedge screening. Do not encircle utility. Show as masses 
and duplicate masses in other locations at regular intervals. 

12. Locate light standards, fire hydrants, water, and sewer lines to not conflict with required tree 
locations. Coordinate civil plans with landscape plans 

13. Show all utilities on the landscape plans. Coordinate so utilities are clear of tree locations. 
14. Note: All trees shall be irrigated on a separate valve. 
15. Note: All trees shall be double staked; trees 36” box size and larger shall include a rootball 

anchor system such as Duckbill Rootball Anchor. 
16. Overhead spray systems shall be designed for plant material less than the height of the spray 

head. 
17. Show 8’ diameter of mulch only at new trees. Note to detail irrigation dripline outside of 

mulched root zone. 
18. Call out all fences and walls, materials proposed, and heights. 
19. Show 25% of trees as California native (Platanus racemosa, Quercus agrifolia, Quercus 

wislizenii, Quercus douglasii, Cercis occidentalis, etc.) in appropriate locations. 
20. Landscape construction plans shall meet the requirements of the Landscape Development 

Guidelines. See http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards 
21. After a project’s entitlement approval, the applicant shall pay all applicable fees for landscape 

plan check and inspections at a rate established by resolution of the City Council. Landscape 
construction plans with building permit number for plan check may be emailed to: 
landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov 

Item B - 19 of 38

mailto:omucwaterquality@ontarioca.gov
http://www.ontarioca.gov/landscape-planning/standards
mailto:landscapeplancheck@ontarioca.gov


Item B - 20 of 38



Item B - 21 of 38



Item B - 22 of 38



Item B - 23 of 38



Item B - 24 of 38



Item B - 25 of 38



Item B - 26 of 38



Item B - 27 of 38



Item B - 28 of 38



Item B - 29 of 38



Item B - 30 of 38



Item B - 31 of 38



Item B - 32 of 38



 

 CITY OF ONTARIO 
 MEMORANDUM   

 

DATE: June 9, 2022 

TO: Antonio Alejos, Engineering    

CC: Charles Mercier, Planning 

FROM: Peter Tran, Utilities Engineering 
  

SUBJECT: DPR #2 - Utilties Comments – Conditions of Approval (COA)(#8444)   

PROJECT NO.: 
PDEV22-011 (A Development Plan to construct one 33,117 sqft Genensis showroom building 
and 2,) 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION 

A Development Plan to construct a new motor vehicle sales lot (Genesis of Ontario), including a 33,117-square-foot showroom, 
office, and vehicle service building and a 2,660-square-foot carwash and detailing building on 4.175 acres of land generally located 
on the south side of Inland Empire Blvd, approximately 225 feet west of QVC Way, within the Urban Commercial land use district 
of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan (APN: 0110-321-82).

 

THIS SUBMITTAL IS COMPLETE AND RECOMMENDED FOR APPROVAL. 

 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: The Ontario Municipal Utilities Company (OMUC) recommends this application for 
approval subject to the conditions outlined below and compliance with the City’s Design Development Guidelines, 
Specifications Design Criteria, and City Standards. 

General Conditions: (Add following to Section 2.A of Engineering Department COA) 

1. Standard Conditions of Approval: Project shall comply with the requirements as set forth in the Amendment to the 
Standard Conditions of Approval for New Development Projects adopted by the City Council (Resolution No. 2017-
027) on April 18, 2017; as well as project-specific conditions/requirements as outlined below:  
 

2. Final Utilities Systems Map (USM): As part of the precise grading plans submittal, provide a Final Utilities Systems Map that 
shows all existing and proposed Utilities (Potable Water, Recycled Water, Sewer, Storm Drain, and other utilities) including 
each of the City’s public utilities’ points of connection to the existing systems 

 
 

Sewer Conditions: (Add following to Section 2.C of Engineering Department COA) 

3. Sewer Monitoring Manhole: Construct sewer monitoring manhole downstream of the proposed sewer lateral, on private 
property and behind back of property line.  
 

4. Sampling Boxes: Provide three sample boxes, one downstream for each of the two proposed sand/oil separators and one 
after the two sand/oil separator pipes join. All separate domestic waste line must be connected downstream of the sand/oil 
separators and after all sampling boxes.  

 
 

5. Note the following: 
The Occupant/Applicant shall apply for a Wastewater Discharge Permit for their establishment and shall comply will all the 
requirements of the Wastewater Discharge Permit. The application can be downloaded from the City's Utilities website in the 
drop-down of the "Pretreatment" section (www.ontarioca.gov/OMUC/Utilities). Please select the appropriate application that 
applies to your type of business. Requirements of the Wastewater Discharge Permit may include, but not limited to: 
Installation of wastewater pretreatment equipment, such as grease interceptors or clarifiers. For wastewater permit 
application questions, please contact: 

 
 

Michael Birmelin, Environmental Programs Manager 

omucenvironmental@ontarioca.gov  
      Phone: (909) 395-2661 

 

Item B - 33 of 38

https://www.ontarioca.gov/OMUC/Utilities
mailto:omucenvironmental@ontarioca.gov


 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

TO:  Charles Mercier, Principal Planner 

 

FROM:  Officer Tony Galban, Police Department 

 

DATE:  March 30, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV22-011 - A DEVELOPMENT PLAN TO CONSTRUCT ONE 

COMMERCIAL BUILDING OF 33,117 SQUARE FEET AND ONE CAR 

WASH AREA OF 2,600 SQUARE FEET TOTALING 35,777, LOCATED 

ON INLAND EMPIRE BLVD EAST OF VINEYARD AVE.  

 

 

The “Standard Conditions of Approval” contained in Resolution No. 2017-027 apply. The 

applicant shall read and be thoroughly familiar with these conditions, including, but not limited to, 

the requirements below. 

 

• Required lighting for all walkways, driveways, doorways, parking lots, hallways and other 

areas used by the public shall be provided. Lights shall operate via photosensor. 

Photometrics shall be provided to the Police Department and include the types of fixtures 

proposed and demonstrate that such fixtures meet the vandal-resistant requirement. 

Planned landscaping shall not obstruct lighting. 

• Rooftop addresses shall be installed on the buildings as stated in the Standard Conditions. 

The numbers shall be at a minimum 6 feet tall and 2 foot wide, in reflective white paint on 

a flat black background, and oriented with the bottom of the numbers towards the addressed 

street. Associated letters shall also be included.  

• The Applicant shall comply with construction site security requirements as stated in the 

Standard Conditions. 

 

 

The Applicant is invited to contact Officer Tony Galban at (909) 408-1006 with any questions or 

concerns regarding these conditions.    

 

Item B - 34 of 38



 

CITY OF ONTARIO 
MEMORANDUM 

 

 

 

TO:  Charles Mercier, Principal Planner 

  Planning Department 

 

FROM:  Paul Ehrman, Sr. Deputy Fire Chief/Fire Marshal 

  Fire Department 

 

DATE:  March 22, 2022 

 

SUBJECT: PDEV22-011 - A Development Plan to construct one (1) commercial 

building of 33,117 square feet and one (1) car wash area of 2,660 square 

feet totaling 35,777 square feet on 4.175 acres of land located on Inland 

Empire Blvd east of Vineyard Ave, within the Urban Commercial land use 

district of the Meredith International Center Specific Plan (APN(s): 0110-

321-82-0000).  

 

 

   The plan does adequately address Fire Department requirements at this time.  

   Standard Conditions of Approval apply, as stated below. 

 

 

SITE AND BUILDING FEATURES: 

 

A. 2019 CBC Type of Construction:  Type V-B 

 

B. Type of Roof Materials:  Ordinary 

 

C. Ground Floor Area(s):  27,831 Sq. Ft.  

 

D. Number of Stories:  2 

 

E. Total Square Footage:  33,117 Sq. Ft.  

 

F. 2019 CBC Occupancy Classification(s):  B, S 

 

 

 

 

 

Item B - 35 of 38



 

2 of 4  

 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 

 

1.0 GENERAL 

 

  1.1 The following are the Ontario Fire Department (“Fire Department”) requirements for this 

development project, based on the current edition of the California Fire Code (CFC), and the 

current versions of the Fire Prevention Standards (“Standards.”) It is recommended that the 

applicant or developer transmit a copy of these requirements to the on-site contractor(s) and 

that all questions or concerns be directed to the Bureau of Fire Prevention, at (909) 395-2029. 

For copies of Ontario Fire Department Standards please access the City of Ontario web site at 

www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention.  

 

  1.2 These Fire Department conditions of approval are to be included on any and all construction 

drawings.  

 

2.0 FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS 

 

  2.1 Fire Department vehicle access roadways shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all portions of 

the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved. Roadways 

shall be paved with an all-weather surface and shall be a minimum of twenty-four (24) ft. wide. 

See Standard #B-004.   

 

  2.2 In order to allow for adequate turning radius for emergency fire apparatus, all turns shall be 

designed to meet the minimum twenty five feet (25’) inside and forty-five feet (45’) outside 

turning radius per Standard #B-005.   

 

  2.3 Fire Department access roadways that exceed one hundred and fifty feet (150’) in length shall 

have an approved turn-around per Standard #B-002.   

 

  2.4 Access drive aisles which cross property lines shall be provided with CC&Rs, access 

easements, or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected 

properties, and copies of same shall be provided at the time of building plan check. 

 

  2.5 "No Parking-Fire Lane" signs and /or red painted curbs with lettering are required to be instal-

led in interior access roadways, in locations where vehicle parking would obstruct the 

minimum clear width requirement. Installation shall be per Standard #B-001.  

 

  2.6 Security gates or other barriers on fire access roadways shall be provided with a Knox brand 

key switch or padlock to allow Fire Department access.  See Standards #B-003, B-004 and H-

001. 

 

  2.7 Any time PRIOR to on-site combustible construction and/or storage, a minimum twenty-four 

(24) ft. wide circulating all weather access roads shall be provided to within 150 ft. of all 

portions of the exterior walls of the first story of any building, unless specifically approved by 

fire department and other emergency services. 

 

 

 

Item B - 36 of 38

http://www.ontarioca.gov/Fire/Prevention


 

3 of 4  

 

3.0 WATER SUPPLY 

 

  3.1 The required fire flow per Fire Department standards, based on the 2019 California Fire Code, 

Appendix B, is 2500  gallons per minute (g.p.m.) for 4 hours at a minimum of 20 pounds per 

square inch (p.s.i.) residual operating pressure. 

 

  3.2 Off-site (public) fire hydrants are required to be installed on all frontage streets, at a minimum 

spacing of three hundred foot (300’) apart, per Engineering Department specifications.  

 

  3.4 The water supply, including water mains and fire hydrants, shall be tested and approved by the 

Engineering Department and Fire Department prior to combustible construction to assure 

availability and reliability for firefighting purposes.  

 

4.0 FIRE PROTECTION SYSTEMS 

 

  4.2 Underground fire mains which cross property lines shall be provided with CC & R, easements, 

or reciprocating agreements, and shall be recorded on the titles of affected properties, and 

copies of same shall be provided at the time of fire department plan check. The shared use of 

private fire mains or fire pumps is allowable only between immediately adjacent properties 

and shall not cross any public street. 

 

  4.3 An automatic fire sprinkler system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with 

National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 13. All new fire sprinkler systems, 

except those in single family dwellings, which contain twenty (20) sprinkler heads or more 

shall be monitored by an approved listed supervising station. An application along with 

detailed plans shall be submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire 

Department, prior to any work being done.   

 

  4.4 Wood frame buildings that are to be sprinkled shall have these systems in service (but not 

necessarily finaled) before the building is enclosed.  

 

  4.5 Fire Department Connections (FDC) shall be located on the address side of the building within 

one hundred fifty feet (150’) of a public fire hydrant on the same side of the street.  Provide 

identification for all fire sprinkler control valves and fire department connections per Standard 

#D-007. Raised curbs adjacent to Fire Department connection(s) shall be painted red, five feet 

either side, per City standards. 

 

  4.6 A fire alarm system is required.  The system design shall be in accordance with National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 72. An application along with detailed plans shall be 

submitted, and a construction permit shall be issued by the Fire Department, prior to any work 

being done.  

 

  4.7 Portable fire extinguishers are required to be installed prior to occupancy per Standard #C-001.  

Please contact the Fire Prevention Bureau to determine the exact number, type and placement 

required. 

 

 

   

Item B - 37 of 38



 

4 of 4  

 

5.0 BUILDING CONSTRUCTION FEATURES 

 

  5.1 The developer/general contractor is to be responsible for reasonable periodic cleanup of the 

development during construction to avoid hazardous accumulations of combustible trash and 

debris both on and off the site. 

 

  5.2 Approved numbers or addresses shall be placed on all new and existing buildings in such a 

position as to be plainly visible and legible from the street or road fronting the property.  Multi-

tenant or building projects shall have addresses and/or suite numbers provided on the rear of 

the building.  Address numbers shall contrast with their background. See Section 9-1 6.06 of 

the Ontario Municipal Code and Standards #H-003 and #H-002.  
 

  5.6 Knox ® brand key-box(es) shall be installed in location(s) acceptable to the Fire Department. 

All Knox boxes shall be monitored for tamper by the building fire alarm system. See Standard 

#H-001 for specific requirements. 

 

  5.7  Placards shall be installed in acceptable locations on buildings that store, use or handle 

hazardous materials in excess of the quantities specified in the CFC. Placards shall meet the 

requirements of National Fire Protection Association (NFPA) Standard 704.  

 

6.0 OTHER SPECIAL USES 

 

  6.1 The storage, use, dispensing, or handling of any hazardous materials shall be approved by the 

Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If hazardous materials 

are proposed, a Fire Department Hazardous Materials Information Packet, including 

Disclosure Form and Information Worksheet, shall be completed and submitted with Material 

Safety Data Sheets to the Fire Department along with building construction plans. 

 

  6.2 Any High Piled Storage, or storage of combustible materials greater than twelve (12’) feet in 

height for ordinary (Class I-IV) commodities or storage greater than six feet (6’) in height of 

high hazard (Group A plastics, rubber tires, flammable liquids, etc.) shall be approved by the 

Fire Department, and adequate fire protection features shall be required.  If High Piled Storage 

is proposed, a Fire Department High Piled Storage Worksheet shall be completed and detailed 

racking plans or floor plans submitted prior to occupancy of the building. 

 

  6.3 Underground fuel tanks, their associated piping and dispensers shall be reviewed, approved, 

and permitted by Ontario Building Department, Ontario Fire Department, and San Bernardino 

County Fire Department Hazardous Materials Division.  In fueling facilities, an exterior 

emergency pump shut-off switch shall be provided.  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Item B - 38 of 38



Page 1 

Development Advisory Board Decision 
July 6, 2022 

DECISION NO.: DAB22-[insert #] 

FILE NO.: PDEV20-009 

DESCRIPTION: A Development Plan to construct a mixed-use project consisting of 59 multiple-family 
dwellings (three-stories of residential units over two-stories of podium parking and 2,500 square feet of first 
floor retail space) on approximately 0.81-acre of land located at 549 West Holt Boulevard, within the MU-
1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-Use/Holt Boulevard District) zoning district (APN: 1049-021-09); submitted by 
Kathy Huynh. Planning Commission action is required. 

Part I—BACKGROUND & ANALYSIS 

KATHY HUYNH, (herein after referred to as “Applicant”) has filed an application requesting 
Development Plan approval, File No. PDEV20-009, as described in the subject of this Decision (herein after 
referred to as "Application" or "Project"). 

(1) Project Setting: The Project site is comprised of 0.81-acre of vacant land located at 549
West Holt Boulevard, as depicted in Exhibit A—Project Location Map, attached. The property is relatively 
flat, with a gentle slope to the southwest corner of the site and is covered with perennial grasses. Existing 
land uses, General Plan and zoning designations, and specific plan land uses on and surrounding the 
Project site are as follows: 

Existing Land Use General Plan 
Designation Zoning Designation Specific Plan 

Land Use 

Site: Vacant Land MU MU-1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-
Use/Holt Boulevard District) N/A 

North: 

Ontario Village 
Commercial Shopping 
Center & Auto Smog 

Shop 

MU MU-1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-
Use/Holt Boulevard District) N/A 

South: Industrial Industrial IL (Light Industrial) N/A 

East: Multi-Tenant Commercial MU MU-1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-
Use/Holt Boulevard District) N/A 

West: Commercial MU MU-1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-
Use/Holt Boulevard District) N/A 

(2) Project Description:

(a) Background — On April 13, 2020, the Applicant submitted a Development Plan
(File No. PDEV20-009) application requesting approval to construct a mixed-use project consisting of 59 
multiple-family dwellings and 2,500 square feet of retail space (four tenant spaces), and two levels of 
parking. In conjunction with the Development Plan, the Applicant submitted a Planned Unit Development 
application (File No. PUD20-001, Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development) that will establish the 
development standards, design guidelines and infrastructure requirements for the Project site. Pursuit to 
the Ontario Development Code, the Planned Unit Development (“PUD”) requires approval by both the 

Item C - 1 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 2 

Planning Commission and the City Council. The subject Development Plan (File No. PDEV20-009), 
however, requires both Development Advisory Board and Planning Commission approval, which is 
contingent upon the Planning Commission and City Council approval of the related PUD. 
 

(b) Site Design/Building Layout —Staff has worked with the Applicant to design a 
project that meets the goals and requirements of the MU-1/LUA-3 (Downtown Mixed-Use/Holt Boulevard 
District) zoning district, the Roosevelt Tower PUD and the goals and policies of The Ontario Plan (“TOP”). 
The proposed building is set back 5 feet from the Holt Boulevard (north) property line, 2 feet from the Brooks 
Street (south) property line, and a zero-setback has been provided along the east and west property lines. 
The residential structures above the two stories of podium parking will be set back 17 feet from Holt 
Boulevard (north) property line, 18-feet from the Brooks Street (south) property line and a zero-setback has 
been provided along the east and west property lines. 
 
The Project has been oriented in a north-south orientation, with the front of the building and primary building 
entrance facing Holt Boulevard. The rear of the building will face Brooks Street.  
 
The building is proposed at five-stories in height (68 feet), comprised of three-stories of residential units 
constructed over two-stories of podium parking. Additionally, 2,500 square feet of retail space has been 
incorporated into the building’s first floor, facing the Project’s Holt Boulevard street frontage. The retail 
space is divided into four separate units ranging from 540 to 760 square feet in area (see Exhibits B—Site 
Plan and Exhibit C—Floor Plans, attached). The retail unit characteristics are shown in Table 1, below. 
 

Table 1: Retail Unit Characteristics 

Unit No. Area (in SF) 

Unit 1 760 

Unit 2 600 

Unit 3 600 

Unit 4 540 
 
The Project has been designed with two points of vehicular access, one on Holt Boulevard (north) and the 
second on Brooks Street (south). Holt Boulevard will serve as the primary access point for both residential 
and commercial land uses. The residential parking area is gated, limiting access to residents only. 
Designated parking for the commercial component is located on the ground floor, immediately behind the 
four retail units (see Exhibit C—Floor Plans, attached). 
 
The Project is proposed at a resdiential density of 72.8 du/ac, consisting of 13 studio units, 30 one-bedroom 
units, and 16 two-bedroom units. The residential units range from 403 to 987 square feet in area. The 
residential unit characteristics are shown in Table 2, below. 
 

Table 2: Residential Floor Plan 

Plan No. Area (In SF) Total Units No. Bedrooms No. Baths 

U-1 403 13 Studio 1 bath 

U-2 987 6 2-bedrooms 2 baths 

U-3 804 3 2 bedrooms 1 bath 

U-4 571 21 1 bedroom 1 bath 

U-5 532 9 1 bedroom 1 bath 

U-6 860 7 2 bedrooms 2 baths 

Item C - 2 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 3 

(c) Site Access/Circulation — The project has been designed in conformance with the 
development regulations, standards and design guidelines of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning 
district and the Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development. The project will provide two points of vehicular 
access. The first access will be provided along Holt Boulevard (north) through a 20-foot wide driveway, 
located toward the eastern portion of the site. The second access point will be provided along Brooks Street 
(south), through a 20-foot wide driveway, located toward the eastern portion of the site. A 24-foot wide, two-
way access drive will accommodate the access through the two levels of parking (see Exhibits B: Site Plan 
and Exhibit C: Floor Plans, attached). Pedestrian access into the building will be provided at the northeast 
end of the building through a lobby with elevator access. Pedestrian access to the retail units will be directly 
from the Holt Boulevard public sidewalk. Residential units will be accessed through interior corridors located 
on each floor. Emergency access stairs have been incorporated along all four corners of the building. 
 

(d) Parking — The project has been parked in accordance with the Ontario 
Development Code and the Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development requirements. The total required 
number of parking spaces is 128, which have been provided. All required parking will be located within the 
first two floors of the 5-story structure. Parking was calculated as shown on Table 3, below. 
 

Table 3: Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Use Ratio 
Area (in SF) or 
No. Dwelling 
Units (DUs) 

Total Required Provided 

Commercial 4 spaces/1,000 SF 2,500 SF 10 10 

Studio 1.5 spaces/DU 13 DUs 19.5 20 

One-Bedroom 1.75 spaces/DU 30 DUs 52.5 53 ** 

Two-Bedroom 2 spaces/DU 16 DUs 32 32 

Guest 
Portion DUs <50: 0.25 space/DU 
Portion DUs 50 to 100: 0.2 space/DU 

50 DUs 
9 DUs 

12.5 
2 

12 

Total   128 128 

Note: **10 residential parking spaces (8.5 %) are tandem 
 

(e) Architecture — The Project proposes a Contemporary Architectural Design, 
exemplifying the type of high-quality architecture promoted by the Ontario Development Code, The Ontario 
Plan, and the Roosevelt Tower PUD (see Figure 1: Holt Boulevard Perspective, and Figure 2: Brooks Street 
Perspective, below, and Exhibit E, attached). The mass and scale of the building along the Holt Boulevard 
frontage will serve to establish an urban sensibility, as envision by the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning 
district. Additionally, the varying stacked massing of the building, in combination with the articulated roof 
line, deep exterior wall insets, and the various story step-downs along the front of the building, provides 
visual interest and helps soften the pedestrian interface between the building façade and the street frontage 
along both Holt Boulevard and Brooks Street. 
 
Special attention was given to the use of color, finished materials, building form and massing, and the use 
of architectural details. This is exemplified through the use of: 
 

 Articulation in the building’s roof lines; 
 Focal architectural towers that have been incorporated at different heights to add interest; 
 A variety of horizontal cement board siding; 
 Concrete Masonry; 
 Spandrel glass; 
 Cantilevered balconies and decorative canopies at the third, fourth and fifth floors; 
 Extensive vision glass at the first and second floors; 

Item C - 3 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 4 

 Exterior smooth stucco finish; 
 Enhanced lighting fixtures; 
 Front and side facing decorative railings at the third, fourth and fifth floor balconies; 
 Incorporation of contrasting exterior building colors to add interest; 
 Decorative aluminum storefront framing; and 
 Deep insets and pop-outs (2.5 feet to 16 feet) at key areas of the building. 

 

 

  

Figure 1: Holt Boulevard Perspective 

 

 

Figure 2: Brooks Street Perspective 

Item C - 4 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 5 

(f) Landscaping —The project exceeds the minimum landscape requirements 
established by the City’s Development Code and the Roosevelt Tower PUD (see Exhibit F: Landscape Plan 
and Exhibit G: Landscape Plan Perspective, attached). The project will provide an average of 66 square 
feet of private open space per unit (60 square feet minimum required), in the form of private balconies, and 
251.5 square feet of common open space for each unit (250 square feet minimum required). The common 
open space (14,853 square feet) will be provided on the third floor (podium deck) of the proposed 5-story 
building, which is fully landscaped and amenitized. The third floor includes an exercise room, entertainment 
area, restrooms, built-in barbecues and serving counters, rubberized play surface, a decorative steel shade 
structure, decorative pavers, wood decking, decorative masonry block raised planters, decorative benches, 
lounge seating, dining tables and chairs, several decorative umbrella shades, two play structures and ping 
pong tables. The Holt Boulevard and Brooks Street setback areas both feature decorative paving and 
decorative potted plants.  
 

(g) Signage — The project is required to comply with the Ontario Development Code 
and the Roosevelt Towers PUD. A sign program is required to be submitted for review and approval prior 
to any signs being installed on the property. 

 
(h) Utilities (drainage, sewer) —The applicant has submitted a Preliminary Water 

Quality Management Plan (“PWQMP”), which establishes the Project’s compliance with storm water 
discharge/water quality requirements. The PWQMP includes site design measures that capture runoff and 
pollutant transport by minimizing impervious surfaces and maximizes low impact development (“LID”) best 
management practices (“BMPs”), such as retention and infiltration, bio treatment, and evapotranspiration. 
The PWQMP proposes an underground infiltration system located beneath the podium parking structure 
along the south portion of the building. The system is designed to accept runoff from the building’s roof and 
third floor courtyard. 
 

Part II—RECITALS 
 

WHEREAS, the Application is a Project pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act, 
commencing with Public Resources Code Section 21000 (hereinafter referred to as "CEQA"); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project is exempt from CEQA pursuant to a categorical exemption (listed in CEQA 
Guidelines Article 19, commencing with Section 15300) and the application of that categorical exemption 
is not barred by one of the exceptions set forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Applicant has also submitted a Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001-

Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development) in conjunction with the proposed Development Plan. The 
Development Plan (File No. PDEV20-009) is contingent upon City Council approval of the related Roosevelt 
Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001); and 
 

WHEREAS, Ontario Development Code Table 2.02-1 (Review Matrix) grants the Development 
Advisory Board (“DAB”) the responsibility and authority to review and make recommendations to the 
Planning Commission on the subject Application; and 
 

WHEREAS, all members of the DAB of the City of Ontario were provided the opportunity to review 
and comment on the Application, and no comments were received opposing the proposed development; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Project has been reviewed for consistency with the Housing Element of the Policy 
Plan component of The Ontario Plan, as State Housing Element law (as prescribed in Government Code 
Sections 65580 through 65589.8) requires that development projects must be consistent with the Housing 
Element, if upon consideration of all its aspects, it is found to further the purposes, principals, goals, and 
policies of the Housing Element; and 
 

Item C - 5 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 6 

WHEREAS, the Project is located within the Airport Influence Area of Ontario International Airport, 
which encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, and is 
subject to, and must be consistent with, the policies and criteria set forth in the Ontario International Airport 
Land Use Compatibility Plan (hereinafter referred to as “ALUCP”), which applies only to jurisdictions within 
San Bernardino County, and addresses the noise, safety, airspace protection, and overflight impacts of 
current and future airport activity; and 
 

WHEREAS, City of Ontario Development Code Division 2.03 (Public Hearings) prescribes the 
manner in which public notification shall be provided and hearing procedures to be followed, and all such 
notifications and procedures have been completed; and 
 

WHEREAS, on July 6, 2022, the DAB of the City of Ontario conducted a hearing on the Application 
and concluded said hearing on that date; and 
 

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of this Decision have occurred. 
 
 

Part III—THE DECISION 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY FOUND AND DETERMINED by the Development Advisory 
Board of the City of Ontario, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Environmental Determination and Findings. As the recommending body for the 
Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the information contained in the administrative record for 
the Project. Based upon the facts and information contained in the administrative record, including all written 
and oral evidence presented to the DAB, the DAB finds as follows: 
 

(1) The Project is categorically exempt from the requirements of the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Section 15332 (Class 32, In-Fill Development) of the CEQA Guidelines, 
and meets each of the following required findings: 
 

 The Project is consistent with the applicable general plan designation and all applicable general 
plan policies, as well as the applicable zoning designation and regulations; 

 The proposed development occurs within city limits, on a project site of no more than five acres, 
and is substantially surrounded by urban uses; 

 The project site has no value as habitat for endangered, rare, or threatened species; 
 Approval of the Project will not result in any significant effects relating to traffic, noise, air quality, 

or water quality; and 
 The Project site can be adequately served by all required utilities and public services. 

 
(2) The application of the categorical exemption is not barred by one of the exceptions set 

forth in CEQA Guidelines Section 15300.2; and 
 

(3) The determination of CEQA exemption reflects the independent judgment of the DAB. 
 

SECTION 2: Housing Element Compliance. Pursuant to the requirements of California 
Government Code Chapter 3, Article 10.6, commencing with Section 65580, as the recommending body 
for the Project, the DAB finds that based on the facts and information contained in the Application and 
supporting documentation, at the time of Project implementation, the Project is consistent with the Housing 
Element of the Policy Plan (General Plan) component of The Ontario Plan, as the Project site is not one of 
the properties in the Available Land Inventory contained in Table A-3 (Available Land by Planning Area) of 
the Housing Element Technical Report Appendix.  

 

Item C - 6 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 7 

SECTION 3: ALUCP Compliance. The California State Aeronautics Act (Public Utilities Code 
Section 21670 et seq.) requires that an Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan be prepared for all public use 
airports in the State; and requires that local land use plans and individual development proposals must be 
consistent with the policies set forth in the adopted Airport Land Use Compatibility Plan. On April 19, 2011, 
the City Council of the City of Ontario approved and adopted the Ontario International Airport Land use 
Compatibility Plan, establishing the Airport Influence Area for Ontario International Airport, which 
encompasses lands within parts of San Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, and limits future 
land uses and development within the Airport Influence Area, as they relate to noise, safety, airspace 
protection, and overflight impacts of current and future airport activity. As the recommending body for the 
Project, the DAB has reviewed and considered the facts and information contained in the Application and 
supporting documentation against the ALUCP compatibility factors, including [1] Safety Criteria (ALUCP 
Table 2-2) and Safety Zones (ALUCP Map 2-2), [2] Noise Criteria (ALUCP Table 2-3) and Noise Impact 
Zones (ALUCP Map 2-3), [3] Airspace protection Zones (ALUCP Map 2-4), and [4] Overflight Notification 
Zones (ALUCP Map 2-5). As a result, the DAB, therefore, finds and determines that the Project, when 
implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be consistent with the policies and criteria 
set forth within the ALUCP. 
 

SECTION 4: Concluding Facts and Reasons. Based upon the substantial evidence presented 
to the DAB during the above-referenced hearing and upon the facts and information set forth in Parts I 
(Background and Analysis) and II (Recitals), above, and the specific findings set forth in Sections 1 through 
3, above, the DAB hereby concludes as follows: 
 

(1) The proposed development at the proposed location is consistent with the goals, 
policies, plans and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities 
components of The Ontario Plan. The proposed Project is located within the MU (Mixed Use) land use 
district of the Policy Plan Land Use Map, and the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning district and the 
Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001). The development standards and 
conditions under which the proposed Project will be constructed and maintained are consistent with the 
goals, policies, plans, and exhibits of the Vision, Policy Plan (General Plan), and City Council Priorities 
components of The Ontario Plan. The Project consist of a mixed-use project composed of 59 multiple-family 
dwellings and 2,500 square feet of retail space (4 commercial tenant spaces), with two levels of podium 
parking. The project will provide housing and additional commercial services in the area, consistent with 
the TOP Policy LU1-6 (Complete Community). In addition, the Project will contribute to the establishment 
of a dynamic, progressive city containing distinct neighborhoods and districts that foster a positive sense 
of identity and belonging among residents, visitors, and businesses (Goal CD1). Furthermore, the Project 
will promote the City’s policy to take actions that are consistent with the City being a leading urban center 
in Southern California, while recognizing the diverse character of our existing viable neighborhoods (Policy 
CD1-1); and 

 
(2) The proposed development is compatible with those on adjoining sites in relation to 

location of buildings, with particular attention to privacy, views, any physical constraint identified 
on the site and the characteristics of the area in which the site is located. The Project has been 
designed consistent with the requirements of the City of Ontario Development Code and the MU-1 
(Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning district and the Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. 
PUD20-001), including standards relative to the proposed 5-story structure, as well as building intensity, 
building and parking setbacks, building height, number of off-street parking and loading spaces, on-site and 
off-site landscaping, and fences, walls and obstructions. The project site is bordered by commercial and 
automotive uses on the north, commercial multi-tenant land uses to the east and west, and industrial land 
uses to the south. The proposed five-story mixed-use project will not impose any privacy or view issues. 
The maximum building height allowed within the MU-1 zoning designation and the Roosevelt Tower 
Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001) is 75 feet, the proposed building will have a maximum 
height of 68 feet; and 

 

Item C - 7 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 8 

(3) The proposed development will complement and/or improve upon the quality of 
existing development in the vicinity of the Project and the minimum safeguards necessary to 
protect the public health, safety and general welfare have been required of the proposed project. 
The Development Advisory Board has required certain safeguards, and imposed certain conditions of 
approval, which have been established to ensure that: [i] the purposes of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) 
zoning district and the Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001) are maintained; 
[ii] the project will not endanger the public health, safety or general welfare; [iii] the project will not result in 
any significant environmental impacts; [iv] the project will be in harmony with the area in which it is located; 
and [v] the project will be in full conformity with the Vision, City Council Priorities and Policy Plan 
components of The Ontario Plan vision, and the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning district and the 
Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001); and 

 
(4) The proposed development is consistent with the development standards and 

design guidelines set forth in the Development Code, or applicable specific plan or planned unit 
development. The proposed Project has been reviewed for consistency with the general development 
standards and guidelines of the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) zoning district and the Roosevelt Tower 
Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001), that are applicable to the proposed Project, including 
building intensity, building and parking setbacks, building height, amount of off-street parking and loading 
spaces, parking lot dimensions, design and landscaping, bicycle parking, on-site landscaping, and fences 
and walls, as-well-as those development standards and guidelines specifically related to the particular land 
use being proposed (5-story structure consisting of a mixed-use project composed of 59 multiple-family 
dwellings and 2,500 square feet of retail space (4 commercial retail tenant spaces), and two levels of 
podium parking). The project, as proposed, meets or exceeds all design guidelines, including parking, 
landscaping, setbacks, height, and circulation. As a result of this review, the Development Advisory Board 
has determined that the Project, when implemented in conjunction with the conditions of approval, will be 
consistent with the development standards and guidelines described in the MU-1 (Downtown Mixed-Use) 
zoning district and the Roosevelt Tower Planned Unit Development (File No. PUD20-001). 
 

SECTION 5: Development Advisory Board Action. Based on the findings and conclusions 
set forth in Sections 1 through 4, above, the DAB hereby recommends the Planning Commission 
APPROVES the Application subject to each and every condition set forth in the Department reports included 
as Attachment A of this Decision, and incorporated herein by this reference. 
 

SECTION 6: Indemnification. The Applicant shall agree to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless, the City of Ontario or its agents, officers, and employees from any claim, action or proceeding 
against the City of Ontario or its agents, officers or employees to attack, set aside, void or annul this 
approval. The City of Ontario shall promptly notify the Applicant of any such claim, action or proceeding, 
and the City of Ontario shall cooperate fully in the defense. 
 

SECTION 7: Custodian of Records. The documents and materials that constitute the record 
of proceedings on which these findings have been based are located at the City of Ontario City Hall, 303 
East “B” Street, Ontario, California 91764. The custodian for these records is the City Clerk of the City of 
Ontario. The records are available for inspection by any interested person, upon request. 
 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - 
 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of July 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 

Development Advisory Board Chairman 

Item C - 8 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 9 

Exhibit A—PROJECT LOCATION MAP 
 
 

 
  

Item C - 9 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 10 

Exhibit B—SITE PLAN  

Item C - 10 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 11 

Exhibit C—FLOOR PLANS  

Item C - 11 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 12 

Exhibit D—FLOOR PLANS  

Item C - 12 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 13 

Exhibit E—ELEVATIONS  

 Font Elevation - Holt Blvd. 

 Rear Elevation - Brooks Street 

Item C - 13 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 14 

Exhibit E—ELEVATIONS (Continued)  

West Elevation 

East Elevation 

Item C - 14 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 15 

Exhibit F— LANDSCAPE PLAN  

Item C - 15 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 16 

 
Exhibit G—LANDSCAPE PLAN PERSPECTIVES 

Item C - 16 of 48



Development Advisory Board Decision 
File No. PDEV20-009 
July 6, 2022 
 
 

Page 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment A 
Departmental Conditions of Approval 

 
(Departmental conditions of approval follow this page) 

Item C - 17 of 48



Item C - 18 of 48



Item C - 19 of 48



Item C - 20 of 48



Item C - 21 of 48



Planning Department - Land Development Division 

Conditions of Approval 

File No.: PDEV20-009 

2.15 Additional Requirements. 

(a) The proposed exterior stucco shall have a smooth finish.
(b) A Sign Program shall be submitted for review and approval prior to any signs

being installed on the property/building. 
(c) All guest parking spaces shall be labeled as "Guest Parking".
(d) During the plan check process, the Applicant shall submit a color parking

plan that illustrates what parking space(s) will be assigned to each residential unit. 
(e) Any publicly exposed concrete shall have a smooth finish.
(f) Applicant shall work with staff during the plan check process, and prior to

building occupancy, to add decorative potted plants with an approved irrigation system, along 
the north and south elevations of the building. 

(g) Approval of the Development Plan (File No. PDEV20-009) is contingent upon
the City Council approval of the related PUD (File No. PUD20-001 ). 

Page 5 of 5 

Item C - 22 of 48



Item C - 23 of 48



Item C - 24 of 48



Item C - 25 of 48



Item C - 26 of 48



Item C - 27 of 48



Item C - 28 of 48



Item C - 29 of 48



Item C - 30 of 48



Item C - 31 of 48



Item C - 32 of 48



Item C - 33 of 48



Item C - 34 of 48



Item C - 35 of 48



Item C - 36 of 48



Item C - 37 of 48



Item C - 38 of 48



Item C - 39 of 48



Item C - 40 of 48



Item C - 41 of 48



Item C - 42 of 48



Item C - 43 of 48



Item C - 44 of 48



Item C - 45 of 48



Item C - 46 of 48



Item C - 47 of 48



Item C - 48 of 48


	20220706 DAB Agenda
	AGENDA
	July 6, 2022
	Scott Murphy, Executive Director, Community Development Agency
	Jennifer McLain Hiramoto, Economic Development Director
	Fire Marshal Paul Ehrman, Fire Department


	20220706 Item A DAB Minutes
	ROLL CALL
	BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT
	BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT
	STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT
	PUBLIC COMMENTS
	CONSENT CALENDAR ITEMS

	20220706 Item B PDEV22-011
	20220706 File No. PDEV22-011 (Genesis of Ontario)^01 AR
	20220706 File No. PDEV22-011 (Genesis of Ontario)^02 COA

	20220706 Item C PDEV20-009
	20220706 File No. PDEV20-009^01 AR
	20220706 File No. PDEV20-009^02 COA




